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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Functional Government Initiative

Plaintiff

Civil Action No. 23-cv-02155-RCL

V.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and uddress)
Civil Process Clerk

United States Attorney's Office
555 4th Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20530

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 30 days atter service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must
serve on the plaintift an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 ot the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintift or plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and

address are: Paul M. Bartkowski

Bartkowski PLLC
6803 Whittier Ave. Suite 200A
McLean, Virginia 22101

If you fail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the
complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA4 D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date: 07/25:2023 /s/ Luileadny J. Navas Gonzalez

Stgnature of Clerk o

NS
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Functional Government Initiative
6218 Georgia Avenuc NW
Suite 1-1235 Civil Action No,

Washington, DC 20011-5125

Plaintiff,
v,

U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services

Hubert H. Humphrey Building

200 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, D.C. 20201

Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF

l. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA™), 5 U.S.C. §
552, the Declaratory Judgment Act, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, for injunctive, declaratory,
and other appropriate relief. Plaintift Functional Government Initiative (“"FGI™) challenges the
failurc of the U.S. Department ot Health and Human Services ("HHS”) to disclose to FGI
records that generally pertain to the Food and Drug Administration’s ("FDA™) tobacco
regulations. The specific records sought are detailed below.

2. This case seeks declaratory relief that HHS is in violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. §
552(a)6)(LE), HHS s regulations, and 28 C.F.R. § 16.5(¢), and for injunctive reliet ordering HHS

to immediately process and release to FGI the requested records in their entirety.

Jurisdiction and Venue

3. This Court has both subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal

jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(a)(4)(B) and 552(a)(6)(c}1). This Court
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also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 2201(a), and 2202. Venue
lies in this district under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).
Parties

4, Piaintift FGI is an unincorporated association of individuals dedicated to
improving the American public’s access to information about the officials. decistons. actions,
and priorities of their government. See D.C. Code § 29-1102(5).

5. Defendant HHS is a cabinet-level executive branch department of the U.S. federal
government created to protect the health of the U.S. people and providing essential human
services. HHS has possession and control of the requested records and is responsible for
fulfilling FGI's FOIA request.

Statutory and Regulatorv Background

6. FOIA requires agencies of the tederal government to release requested records to
the public unless one or more specific statutory exemptions apply.

7. An agency must notify a party making a FOIA request within 20 working days of
the agency’s determination and the reasons therefor and of the requester’s right to appeal the
determination to the agency head. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(1).

Factual Background

8. In December 2019, the FDA authorized the marketing and sale of two new

“reduced nicotine™ tobacco products. See https::/www.fda.gov/news-events/press-

announcements fda-permits-sale-two-new-reduced-nicotine-cigarettes-through-premarket-

tobacco-product-application (accessed July 20, 2023),

9. [n December 2021, the FDA authorized marketing of two tobacco products as

“modified risk tobacco products™ or MRTPs. Those two products were the first combusted

b


https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press
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cigarettes to be authorized as MRTPs and the second tobacco products overall to receive
“exposure modification” orders, which allows them to be marketed as presenting a reduced

exposure to a substance. See https: ‘www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements fda-

authorizes-marketine-tobacco-products-help-reduce-exposure-and-consumption-nicotine-

smokers-who (accessed July 20, 2023).

10. Those approvals all related to products produced by the same company, the 22™
Century Group, Inc.. raising concerns that the regulatory situation is creating a monopoly.

11. OnlJune [, 2022, the Biden-Harris Administration published plans for regulatory

actions related to tobacco and nicotine products. See https://www.fda.gov/news-events press-

announcements/tda-announces-plans-proposed-rule-reduce-addictiveness-cigarettes-and-other-

combusted-tobacco (visited July 20, 2023). The plan includes a recommendation that the FDA

establish a maximum nicotine level fore electronic cigarette and tobacco products.

2. On December 19, 2022, the Reagan-Udall Foundation submitted a report
(hereinafter, the "Rcport”) containing an evaluation and resulting recommendations regarding
the Food and Drug Administration’s Center for Tobacco Products (“CTP”). That Report is

available on the Reagan-Udall Foundation’s website at: Operational Evatuation ot Certain

Components of FDA's Tobacco Program_Dec. 2022.pdt (reaganudall.org) {accessed July 20,

2023).

13. The cover letter accompanying the Report provides that the recommendations
were submitted “to strengthen the regulatory processes and operations of FDA's tobacco
program to better position it to tace the future™ and that the evaluation and recommendations
focused on “regulations and guidance, application review, compliance and enforcement, and

communication with the public and other stakeholders.” /d.


https://reaganudall.org
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda
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14. There is a clear public interest in effective regulation and approval of tobacco
products, including ensuring that the regulation thereof is being conducted in a manner that
allows for and promotes safety and heaith. In particular, the public has a specific interest in
whether political considerations aftect FDA's tobacco regulation through, inter alia, the CTP and
senior otticials at the Department of Health and Human Services.

2023-00630-FOIA-OS

15. On March 31, 2023, FGI sent the subject FOIA request' to Freedom of
Information Act Otfice of HHS seeking all records and communication pertaining to the Report.
FGI also listed Andrea Palm, Deputy Secretary. as HHS custodian to aid in the searches. /d.

16. The subject FOIA request stated that it requested information trom December 19,
2022, to the date HHS began its search. 7d.

17. FGI also sought a waiver of fees associated with processing its request and
explained in its request that the requested records would be in the public interest and because the
requested records contribute to the public’s understanding of the operations or activities of the
government. [d.

18 On April 3, 2023, FGI received a letter” from HHS acknowledging receipt of the
subject FOIA and indicating it had been assigned Request Number 2023-00630-FOILA-OS and
that the subject FOIA request had been assigned to the “complex track.” HHS indicated that
because of the “complex track™ assignment, it estimated it would need more than 10 additional

days to respond to the request. /d.

! Attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
* Attached hereto as Exhibit 3.



Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL Document 1 Filed 07/25/23 Page 5 of 8

19. Having not received any documents or further communication for nearly two
months, on May 22, 2023, FGI asked, via email,’ for an update and a completion estimate for the
subject FOIA,

20.  As of the filing date ot this complaint, FGI has received no documents or further
communication from HHS regarding 2023-00630-FOIA-OS.

21. [t is apparent that, without litigation, HHS will not produce the requested
documents in a timeframe that allows for timely public disclosure regarding HHS s actions.
Accordingly, FGI has now exhausted all applicable administrative remedies with respect to
2023-00630-FOIA-OS.

2023-00693-FOL1A-OS

22 On April 21, 2023, FGl sent the subject FOIA request’ to the Freedom of’
Intormation Act Office of HHS seeking records and communication pertaining to tobacco and

nicotine products manufactured by 22™ Century Group, Inc. with certain individuals at 22"

Century Group.
23. FGI also listed certain HHS custodians to aid in the searches.
24, The subject FOIA request stated that it requested information from January 21,

2021 through December 23, 2021. Id.

25, FGI also sought a waiver of fees associated with processing its request and
explained in its request that the requested records would be in the public interest and because the
requested records contribute to the public’s understanding of the operations or activities of the

government. [d.

? Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 (personal telephone number redacted).

* Attached hereto as Exhibit 2.



Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL Document 1 Filed 07/25/23 Page 6 of 8

26. On April 25, 2023, FGI received a letter from HHS acknowledging receipt of the
subject FOIA and indicating it had been assigned Request Number 2023-00693-FOIA-OS and
that the subject FOIA request had been assigned to the “complex track.” HHS indicated that
because of the “"complex track™ assignment, it estimated it would need more than 10 additionai
days to respond to the request. id.

27, As of the filing date of this complaint. FGI has received no documents or further
communication from HHS regarding 2023-00693-FOIA-OS.

28. [t is apparent that, without litigation, HHS will not produce the requested
docunients in a timeframe that allows for timely public disclosure regarding HHS s actions.
Accordingly. FGI has now exhausted all applicable administrative remedies with respect to
2023-00693-FOIA-OS.

PLAINTIFE'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF

CLAIM ONE
2023-00630-FOIA-OS
(Wrongful Withholding of Non-Exempt Records
In Violation of FOIA by HHS, 5 U.S.C. § 552)
29, FGI repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-28.
30.  FGI properly requested records within the custody and control ot HHS and. or its
subsidiary offices.
3l HHS failed to comply with the statutory time limits tor making a determination

on the FOIA request, and by withholding from disclosure records responsive to FGI’s FOIA

request to HHS,

3 Attached hereto as Exhibit 3.
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32 FGI is therefore entitted to injunctive and declaratory relief with respect to the

immediate processing and disclosure of the requested records.
CLAIM TWO
2023-00693-FOIA-OS
(Wrongful Withholding of Non-Exempt Records
In Violation of FOIA by HHS, 5 U.S.C. § 552)

33. FGI repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-28.

34. FGI properly requested records within the custody and control of HHS and/or its
subsidiary offices.

35, HHS failed to comply with the statutory time limits for making a determination
on the FOIA request. and by withholding from disclosure records responsive to FGI's FOIA
request to HEHS.

36.  FQIis therefore entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief with respect to the

immediate processing and disclosure of the requested records.

Requested Relief

WHEREFORE, FGI respecttully requests that this Court:

(1) Order detfendant HHS to immediatcly and fully process Plaintiff FGI’s March 31,
2023 and April 21, 2023 FOIA requests (2023-00630-FOIA-OS and 2023-00693-
FOITA-OS) and disclose all non-cxempt documents immediately to FGI:

(2) [ssue a declaration that FGI is entitled to both immediate processing and disclosure of
the requested records and indexes justifying the withholding of all or any portion of
responsive records under claim of exemption;

(3) Retain junisdiction of this action to ensure no agency records are wrongtully withheld;
and

(4) Grant such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
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Counsel for FGI further requests that the Court award reasonable attorneys” tees and

other litigation costs incurred in this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E).

Dated: July 25, 2023 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Paul M. Bartkowski

Paul M. Bartkowski

(D.C. Bar No. 482432)

BARTKOWSKI PLLC

6803 Whittier Ave., Suite 200A

Mcl.can, VA 22101

Telephone: (571) 533-3581

E-Mail: pbartkowskiia bartkowskipllc.com

Counsel for Functional Government Initiative


mailto:pbartkowski@bartkowskiplle.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT AND BANKRUPTCY COURTS
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ANCGELAD. CAESAR
Clerk of Courts

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO CONSENT TO TRIAL
BEFORE A UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

The substantial criminal caseload in this Court and the requirements of the criminal Speedy Trial
Act frequently result in the delay in the trial of civil cases. Aware of the hardship and expense to
the parties, counsel, and witnesses caused by the delays which are beyond the control of the Court,
this notice is to advise you of your right to trial of your case by a United States Magistrate Judge.
By statute, 28 USC §636(c), Fed.R.Civ.P. 73 and Local Civil Rule 73.1, the partics, by consent, can
try their case by means of a jury trial or bench trial before a United States Magistrate Judge.
Appeals from judgments and final orders are taken directly to the United States Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit, in the same manner as an appeal from a judgment of a United
States District Judge in a civil case.

WHAT IS THE PROCEDURE?

One of'the matters you are required to discuss at the meet-and-conter conterence mandated by Local
Civil Rule 16.3 is whether the case should be assigned to a United Statcs Magistrate Judge for all
purposes, including trial.

All parties must consent betore the case is assigned to a Magistrate Judge for trial. You may consent
at any time prior to trial. [f you expressly decline to consent or simply fail to consent early in the
case, vou are not foreclosed from consenting later in the case. However, a prompt clection to
proceed before a Magistrate Judge is encouraged because it will facilitate a more orderly scheduling
of the case.

Counsel for the plaintiff has been furnished a copy of the “Notice, Consent and Reterence of a
Civil Action to a Magistrate Judge (AO 85)” forni. It and when the form is executed, your
response should be made to the Clerk of the United States District Court.

WHAT IS THE ADVANTAGE?

The case will be resolved sooncr and less expensively. The earlier the parties consent to assigning
the case to a Magistrate Judge the earlier a firm and certain trial date can be established, even if the
case is to be tried to a jury.

Upon the filing of the consent form the case will be randomly assigned for all purposes to a
Magistrate Judge.

HOW DO I FILE?

Once the form is signed by all parties, submit the form to the Clerk’s Otfice by mail or email, or
file it electronically in CM/ECF using the event Consent to Proceed before Magistrate Judge for
All Purposes (under Other Documents). Do not file the form unless signed by all parties.

n:\Forms\Notice of Right to Consent to Trial
C0O-942A Rev. 3/22






Kelsey Curtis

L _

From: DCD_ECFNotice@dcd.uscourts.gov

Sent; Tuesday, July 25, 2023 3:14 PM

To: DCD_ECFNotice@dcd.uscourts.gov

Subject: Activity in Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL FUNCTIONAL GOVERNMENT INITIATIVE v. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF

HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES Case Assigned/Reassigned

This is an automatic e-mail message generated by the CM/ECF system. Please DO NOT RESPOND to this e-mail
because the mail box is unattended.

***NOTE TO PUBLIC ACCESS USERS*** judicial Conference of the United States policy permits attorneys of record and
parties in a case {including pro se litigants) to receive one free electronic copy of all documents filed electronically, if
receipt is required by law or directed by the filer. PACER access fees apply to all other users. To avoid later charges,
download a copy of each document during this first viewing. However, if the referenced document is a transcript, the
free copy and 30 page limit do not apply.

U.S. District Court
District of Columbia

Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered on 7/25/2023 at 3:14 PM and filed on 7/25/2023

Case Name: FUNCTIONAL GOVERNMENT INITIATIVE v. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES
Case Number: 1:23-cv-02155-RCL
Filer:

Document Number: No document attached

Docket Text:
Case Assigned to Judge Royce C. Lamberth. (zljn)

1:23-cv-02155-RCL Notice has been electronically mailed to:

1:23-cv-02155-RCL Notice will be delivered by other means to::
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Functional Government Initiative
\2
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

July 25, 2023 Complaint Exhibit List

Exhibit | Description

FGI FOIA Request to HHS (Mar. 31, 2023)

FGI FOIA Request to HHS (Apr. 21, 2023)

HHS Acknowledgement Letter [2023-00630-FOIA-OS] (Apr. 3, 2023)

HHS Acknowledgement Letter [2023-00693-FOIA-OS] (Apr. 25, 2023)

| (L | —

FGI Email re Status [2023-00630-FOIA-OS] (May 22, 2023)




Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL Document 1-10 Filed 07/25/23 Page 1 of 2

Exhibit 5



From:
Subject:
Date:
To:

Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL Document 1-10 Filed 07/25/23 Page 2 of 2

Chris Stanley chr s@funct ona government.org
Re: HHS FCOIA Acknow edgement Letter -- 2023-00630-FOIA-OS f@
May 22, 2023 at 5:30 PM

Da ey, Garfie d fo arequest@hhs.gov

May | have an update on th s request, p ease? Do you have an est mate for when t can be comp eted?
Thank you.
Chrs Staney

D rectar, Funct ona Gavernment Int at ve
chr s@funct ana government.ory

On Apr 3, 2023, at 6:58 AM, Da ey, Garfie d «<fo arequest@hhs.gov> wrote:
Dear Mr.. Stanley

Please see the attached Acknowledgement Letter in response to vour FOLA Request submitted to the
Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) via PAL on April 3, 2023,

The letter contains important information concerning your FOILA matter which has been assigned tracking
number 2023-00630-FOIA-QOS.

For status updates or other inquiries, please contact our office via email at FOLARequest@hhs.gov. Please
include your tracking number in the subject line of your inguiry,

Sincerely,

08 FOIA Division Queue

0S8 FOIA Division Intake

Assistant Secretarv for Public Affairs (ASPA)

Office of the Secretary (08)

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)

<Acknow edgement Lelter .pdf=


mailto:FOlARequest@hhs.gov
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mailto:arequest@hhs.gov
https://government.org

Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL Document 1-9 Filed 07/25/23 Page 1 of 4

Exhibit 4



Case 1:23-cv-02155-RCL Document 1-9 Filed 07/25/23 Page 2 of 4

CE LT

onBEAL
’

I
/ DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES Office of the Secretary
>,

g Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
Washington, D.C. 20201

“

Refer to: Request Number 2023-00693-FOLA-OS
April 25, 2023

Sent via email:

Mr. Chris Stanley

Policy Director

Functional Government Initiative
6218 Georgia Avenue NW

Ste [ -1235

Washington, DC 2001 1-3125
chrisi@functionalgovernment.org

Decar Chris Stanlcy:

This acknowledges receipt of your April 22, 2023, Freedom of [ntformation Act (FOIA) rcquest,
submitted to the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), FOI/Privacy Acts Division
concerning “FGI requests all records between the custodians identified and anyone with 22nd
Century Group. The date range is January 21, 2021, through December 23, 2021.

This would include the tfollowing people with the company:

. James A. Mish, CEO (Jmish@xxiicentury.com)

. Calvin Treat, Chief Scientific Ofticer (Ctreat@xxiicentury.com)

. John Miller, President, Tobacco Business (JMiller{@ xxiicentury.com)

. John D. Pritchard, Vice President of Regulatory Science (JPritchard@xxiicentury.com)
. Juan Sanchez Tamburrino. Vice President of Research and Development
(JTamburrino@xxiicentury.con)

. Peter Ferola, Chief Legal Officer (PFerolai@xxiicentury.com)

. Lindsay Castro, Associate Corporate Counsel (L.Castrod@ xxiicentury.com)

. Shiva Vellanki, Vice President - US Federal Business Practices

(SVellanki@ xxiicentury.com)

. Eric Cheney, Communications Manager (Echeney@xxiicentury.com)

. Brittainy Dye, Regulatory Compliance Manager {BDye(@ixxiicentury.com)

. Anyone else with an email ending with fa xxiicentury.com

Custodians:

. Andrea Palm, Deputy Secretary

. Angela Botticella, Chief of Staff, Oftfice of the Deputy Secretary

. Other staft in the immediate office of the Deputy Secretary

. The Assistant Secretary tor Public Affairs

. Anyone in the office of the Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs who works on the

Public Health team within the otfice

We received your request on April 24, 2023,


https://xxiicentury.com
mailto:8Dye@xxiicentury.com
mailto:Echeney@xxiicentury.com
mailto:SVellanki@xxiicentury.com
mailto:LCastro@xxiicentury.com
mailto:PFerola@xxiicentury.com
mailto:JTamburrino@xxiicentury.com
mailto:JPritchard@xxiicentury.com
mailto:JMiller@xxiicentury.com
mailto:Ctreat@xxiicentury.com
mailto:Jmish@xxiicentury.com
mailto:chris@functionalgovernment.org
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Because you seek records which require a search in another office, “unusual circumstances”
apply to your request, automatically extending the time limit to respond to your request for ten
additional days. See 5 U.S.C. 5352 § (a)(6)(B)(1)-(111) {2012 & Supp. V. 2017). Further, we
estimate necding more than |0 additional days to respond to your request and so, in the next
paragraph of this letter we are offcring you an opportunity to narrow your request, in case
narrowing the request would enablc us to respond to the request sooner. The actual time needed
to process your request will depend on the complexity of our records search and on the volumc
and complexity of any material located. For your information, this Office assigns incoming
requests to one of three tracks: simple, complex, or expedited. Each request is then handled on a
first-in, first-out basis in relation to other requests in the same track. Our current workload is
approximately 3000 cases.

Your request is assigned to the complex track. [n an effort to speed up our records search, you
may wish to narrow the scope of your request to limit the number of potentially responsive
records or agree to an altemative time frame for processing, should records be located. You may
also wish to await the completion of our records search to discuss either of these options.

[ regret the necessity of this delay, but [ assure you that your request will be processed as soon as
possible. If you have any questions or wish to discuss reformulation or an alternative time tframe
for the processing of your request, you may contact the HHS FOIA oftice via email at
folarequestiwhhs.gov.

If you are not satisfied with any aspect of the processing and handling of this request, you have
the right to seek dispute resolution services from:

HHS FOIA/PA Public Liaison, FOI/Privacy Acts Division, Assistant Secretary for Public Attairs
(ASPA) Office of the Secretary (OS) U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
Telephone: (202) 690-7453; E-mail: HHS_FOIA_Public_Liaison{@hhs.gov

and/or:

Office of Government Information Services, National Archives and Records Administration,
Telephone: 202- 741-5770, Toll-Free: 1-877-684-6448, E-mail: ogis(@.nara.gov

If you are not already submitting your requests through our Public Access Link (PAL), we
recommend all future requests and appeals be submitted through PAL -
https://requests.publiclink.hhs.gov . Submitting requests through PAL automatically logs your
requests into our tracking system and provides you with a tracking number. Your PAL account
will allow you to track the progress of your request, receive vour documents directly through the
portal, and securely submit privacy-sensitive or business-sensitive documents.

Sincerely yours,

AL

Arianne Perkins
Director, Initial FOIA Requests


https://requests.publiclink.hhs.gov
mailto:ogis@nara.gov
mailto:Liaison@hhs.gov
mailto:foiarequest@hhs.gov
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CDEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES Office of the Secretary

e Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
Washington, D.C. 20201

Refer to: Request Number 2023-00630-FOIA-OS
April 3, 2023

Sent via email:
Chris Stanley
chris@ functionalgovernment.org

Dear Mr. Stanley:

This acknowledges receipt of your March 31, 2023, Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request,
submitted to the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), FOI/Privacy Acts Division
concerning “FGI requests all records from December 19, 2022, until the date the search begins
pertaining to the report from the Reagan-Udall Foundation for the Food and Drug Administration
about the FDA’s tobacco programs, Operational Evaluation of Certain Components of FDA's
Tobacco Program . This would include but not be limited to communications to anvone outside
the government about the report, any analysis ot the report, responses to the report, and plans to
address the report.

Custodian:
Andrea Palm. Deputy Secretary

Please see the request letter for more details. (Date Range for Record Search: From 12/19/2022
To 04/07/2023)”. We received your request on April 3, 2023.

Because you seek records which require a search in another otfice, “unusual circumstances™
apply to your request, automatically extending the time limit to respond to your request for ten
additional days. See 5 U.S.C. 552 § (a}6XB)1)-(111) (2012 & Supp. V. 2017). Further. we
estimate needing more than 10 additional days to respond to your request and so, in the next
paragraph of this letter we are oftering you an opportunity to narrow your request. in case
narrowing the request would enable us to respond to the request sooner. The actual time needed
to process your request will depend on the complexity of our records search and on the volume
and complexity of any material located. For your information, this Otfice assigns incoming
requests to one of three tracks: simple. complex, or expedited. Each request is then handled on a
first-in, first-out basis in relation to other requests in the same track. Our current workload is
approximately 3000 cases.

Your request is assigned to the complex track. In an eftort to speed up our records search, you
may wish to narrow the scope of your request to limit the number ot potentially responsive
records or agree to an alternative time frame for processing, should records be located. You may
also wish to await the completion of our records scarch to discuss cither of these options.


mailto:chris@functionalgovemment.org
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[ regret the necessity of this delay, but [ assure you that your request will be processed as soon as
possible. If you have any questions or wish to discuss reformulation or an alternative time frame

tor the processing of your request, you may contact the analyst handling your request, OS FOIA

Division Qucue at foiarequest@hhs.gov.

If you are not satisfied with any aspect of the processing and handling of this request, you have
the right to seek dispute resolution services from:

HHS FOTA/PA Public Liaison

FOl/Privacy Acts Division

Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs (ASPA)

Office of the Secretary (OS)

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)

Telephone: (202) 690-7453
E-mail: HHS FOIA Public Liaison(a:hhs.gov

and/or:

Oftice of Government Information Services
National Archives and Records Administration
Telephone: 202- 741-5770

Toll-Free: 1-877-684-6448

E-mail: ogis(w nara.gov

If you are not already submitting your requests through our Public Access Link (PAL), we
recomnmend all future requests and appcals be submitted through PAL -
https://requests.publiclink.hhs.gov . Submitting requests through PAL automatically logs your
rcquests into our tracking system and provides you with a tracking number. Your PAL account
will allow you to track the progress of your request, receive your documents directly through the
portal, and securely submit privacy-scnsitive or business-sensitive documents.

Sincerely yours,

SA

Arianne Perkins
Director, Initial FOIA Requests
FOI/Privacy Acts Division


https://reguests.publiclink.hhs.i:rnv
mailto:ogis@nara.gov
mailto:Liaison@hhs.gov
mailto:foiarequest@hhs.gov
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Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
Washington, D.C. 20201

—/CDEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES Office of the Secretary
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FUNCTIC AL GOVERNMENT
INITIATIVE

April 21, 2023

Submitted online at https: //requests.publiclink.hhs.gov/

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Freedom of Information Act Office

Hubert H. Humphrey Building,, Room 729H
200 Independence Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20201

Re: Communications with 22nd Century, Inc. and key officials
Dear Freedom of Information Act Officer:

The Functional Government Initiative (FGI) submits this request for records under the Freedom of
Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, as amended (FOIA), and the relevant implementing regulations. FGI,
a non-partisan organization, engages in research, investigation, and education to promote
transparency in government. Your pronmpt response pursuant to the requirements of FOIA, 5 US.C.
§522(a)(6)(A), is appreciated.

On June 1, 2022, the Biden-Harris Administration published its plans for future regulatory actions
against tobacco and nicotine products.t This plan includes a recommendation to the FDA to
establish a maximum nicotine level for electrenic cigarette and tobacco products. The goal for
establishing such regulation is to reduce the likelihood of long-term addiction, particularly for
underage consumers.

In December 2021, the FDA announced it had authorized the marketing of two brands of
combusted, filtered cigarettes as modified risk tobacco products (MRTPs). The FDA stated, “These
are the first combusted cigarettes to be authorized as MRTPs and the second tobacco products
overall to receive ‘exposure modification’ orders, which allows them to be marketed as having a
reduced level of, or presenting a reduced exposure to, a substance.”? Two years earlier, FDA had
authorized the marketing and sale of two new “reduced nicotine” tobacco products.? Al of these
products are manufactured by a single company, 220 Century Group, Inc. The public should know
whether the company was communicating directly with key officials and, if so, what was discussed
about regulations that may lead to a monopoly.

! https://www fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-announces-plans-proposed-rule-reduce-
addictiveness-cigarettes-and-other-combusted-tobacco

z https://www fda gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-authorizes-marketing-tobacco-products-he!p-
reduce-exposure-and-consumption-nicotine-smokers-who

¥ https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-permits-sale-two-new-reduced-nicotine-
cigarettes-through-premarket-tobacco-product-application



www.fda.gov
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-announces-plans-proposed-rule-reduce
https://requests.publiclink.hhs.gov
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REQUESTED RECORDS

FGI requests all records between the custodians identified and anyone with 222¢ Century Group.
The date range is January 21, 2021, through December 23, 2021.

This would include the following people with the company:

s James A. Mish, CEO (Jmish@xxiicentury.com)

¢ (Calvin Treat, Chief Scientific Officer (Ctreat@xxiicentury.com)

s John Miller, President, Tobacco Business ([Miller@xxiicentury.com)

e John D. Pritchard, Vice President of Regulatory Science (|Pritchard@xxiicentury.com)

e Juan Sanchez Tamburrino, Vice President of Research and Development
{JTamburrino@xxiicentury.com)

e Peter Ferola, Chief Legal Officer (PFerola@xxiicentury.com)

e Lindsay Castro, Associate Corporate Counsel (LCastro@xxiicentury.com)

e Shiva Vellanki, Vice President - US Federal Business Practices
{SVellanki@xxiicentury.com)

¢ Eric Cheney, Communications Manager [Echeney@xxiicentury.com)

¢ Brittainy Dye, Regulatory Compliance Manager (BDye@xxiicentury.com)

e Anyone else with an email ending with @xxiicentury.com

Custodians:
e Andrea Palm, Deputy Secretary
e Angela Botticella, Chief of Staft, Office of the Deputy Secretary
s  Other staff in the immediate office of the Deputy Secretary
s The Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
s Anyone in the office of the Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs who works on the Public
Health team within the office

The term “all records” in this request refers to emails including attachments, text messages
{including messages on encrypted apps such as Signal or WhatsApp), calendars, electronic meeting
invitations and replies, letters, correspondence, facsimiles, memoranda, notes from meetings and
phone calls, minutes of meetings, agendas of meetings, comments, files, presentations,
consultations, drawings, diagrams, graphs, charts, assessments, evaluations, telephone records and
logs, virtual meeting logs (such as those produced by Microsoft Teams and Zoom), papers
(published or unpublished), reports, studies, photographs and other images, databases, data, maps,
or all other responsive records in draft or final form that fall within the definition of “agency
records” subject to FOIA. This request is not meant to exclude any other records that, although not
specifically requested, are reasonably related to the subject matter of this request.

We ask that you please provide all records in an electronic format and, to the extent practicable, in
native file format or, if not practicable, with full metadata for all fields. FOIA provides that “an
agency shall provide the record in any form or format requested by the person if the record is
readily reproducible by the agency in that form or format."* Please provide records in either a load-

ready format with an index in .csv file or Excel spreadsheet, or in PDF format without any portfolios
or embedded files and not in a single batched pdf file.

If you should seek to withhold or redact any responsive records, we request that you do the

“5U.5.C. § 552(a}3)(8).


https://xxiicentury.com
mailto:BDye@xxiicentury.com
mailto:Echeney@xxiicentury.com
mailto:SVellanki@xxiicentury.com
mailto:LCastro@xxiicentury.com
mailto:PFerola@xxiicentury.com
mailto:JTamburrino@xxiicentury.com
mailto:JPritchard@xxiicentury.com
mailto:QMiller@xxiicentury.com
mailto:Ctreat@xxiicentury.com
mailto:Qmish@xxiicentury.com
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following:

1. Identify each such record with specificity, including date, author, recipient, and parties
copied,

2. Explain in full the basis for withholding responsive material,

3. Provide all segregable portions of the records for which you claim a specific exemptions,

and
4, Correlate any redactions with specific exemptions under FOIA.

If you or your office have destroyed or decide to withhold any records that could be reasenahly
construed to be responsive to this request, we ask that you indicate this fact and the reasons for
doing so in your response. Agencies are prohibited from denying requests for information under
FOIA unless the agency reasonably believes release of the information will harm an interest that is
protected hy the exemption.s

Should you decide to invoke a FOIA exemption or any subsection (c) exclusions, please include
sufficient information for us to assess the basis for the exemption, including any interests that
would be harmed by release. Please include a detailed ledger with the following:

1. Basic factual material aboul each withheld record, including the originator, date, length,
general subject matter, and location of each item, and

2. Complete justifications for each withheld records, including the specific exemptions under
which the record or portion thereof, was withheld and a full explanation of how each
exemption applies to the withheld material. Such statements will be helpful in deciding
whether to appeal an adverse determination. Your written justification may help to avoid
litigation.

If you determine that portions of the records requested are exempt from disclosure, we request
that you segregate the exempt portions and send the non-exempt portions to my email address
below within the statutory time limit.?

FGI is willing to receive records on a rolling basis.

To facilitate our request most efficiently, we request that the FOIA office use the agency’s email
management system as part of the search for this request.

REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER

Pursuant to 5 US.C. § 552 and the relevant FOIA regulations, we request a waiver of fees for
searching and producing the records of this request. FOIA provides for a waiver of fees when a
request is "in the public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to public
understanding of the operations or activities of the government and is not primarily in the
commercial interest of the requester.”8

Below are details explaining {1) how the disclosure of the requested records is in the public

*See 5 U.S.C. § 552{h).

 FOIA Improvement Act of 2016 {Public Law No. 114-185}, 5 U.5.C. § 552(a)(8}{A).
75 U.5.C. § 552{b).
¥ 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(ANiii).
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interest, (2) that FGl intends distribute information to a broad audience of interested persons, and
(3) that FGI has no commercial interests.

In addition, FGI is a “person or entity that gathers information of potential interest to a segment of
the public, uses its editorial skills to turn the raw materials intc a distinct work, and distributes that
work to an audience” and thus qualifies as a "representative of the news media” under 5 U.5.C. §
552(a){4){A)(ii). Below are details explaining (4) how FGI clearly meets these criteria.

1. THE REQUEST IS IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST.

Under FOIA, an agency must consider factors to determine whether a request is in the public
interest. These include the following:

A. Whether the subject of the requested records concerns “the operations or activities of the
Federal government,”

B. Whether the disclosure is “likely to contribute significantly” to an understanding of
government aperations or activities, and

C. Whether the disclosure “will contribute to public understanding” of a reasonably broad
audience of persans interested in the subject.

As shown below, FGI meets each of these factors,
A, The requested records concern the operations and activities of the Federal government.

This request seeks communications between a company regulated by the FDA, part of HHS, and
HHS officials. The Department of Justice Freedom of Information Act Guide acknowledges that “in
most cases records possessed by a federal agency will meet this thresheld.”™ The threshold is met
here not only because the records sought are by nature possessed by agency staff but also because
they relate to work of the federal government.

Thus, FGI meets this factor.

B. Disclosure is “likely to contribute significantly” to an understanding of government
operations or activities.

Disclosure of the requested recards is certain to contribute significantly to public understanding of
the HHS. Knowing whether and, if so, what key officials are communicating with the only company
to so far have its low nicotine products approved will certainly shed light on the government's
work. Once the information is made available, FGI will evaluate the information and present it to its
followers and make it available to the public.

FGlis not requesting these records merely for their intrinsic informational value. The public is
always well served when it knows details of what officials are communicating with interest groups,
Hence, there can be no dispute that disclosure of the requested records to the public will
significantly increasing the public’s understanding about the agency’s actions and whether those
actions were conducted in an objective, ethical, and legal way. Thus, FGI meets this factor.

C. Disclosure of the requested records will contribute to the understanding of a reasonably

K https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/oip/legacv/2014/07/2 3/fees-feewaivers.pdf
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broad audience.

FGI has the ability and intention to convey this information to a broad audience (by means
discussed in Section 2 below). The public does not currently have an ability to evaluate the
requested records. With the wide reach of the FDA's regulatory power and the impact of its work in
many different areas, a very broad audience interested in government transparency, public health
policy, and ethics compliance, among other issues, would achieve a greater understanding of their
government’s work from the requested records.

Such public oversight of agency action is vital to our democratic system and clearly envisioned by
the drafters of the FOIA. Thus, FGI meets this factor,

2. FGI HAS THE ABILITY AND INTENT TO DISSEMINATE THE INFORMATION TO A REASONABLY
BROAD AUDIENCE INTERESTED IN THE SUB|ECT.

FGl is a non-partisan organization that researches government operations and informs the pubiic
its findings. Access to information about the activities and decisions of government officials is vital
to fulfilling this mission. Once the information is obtained, FGI has robust mechanisms in place,
including its website, social media channels, and other platforms, to share information. FG1 intends
to use its channels to publish the information from these requested records, along with expert
analysis. FGI also has a broad network of reporters, bloggers, and media publications with interest
in its content and with durable relationships with the organization. FGI intends to use these far-
reaching media outlets to publicize information obtained from this request.

Through these means, FGI's dissemination of the information will:

o Ensure that the information requested contributes significantly to the public’s
understanding of the government's operations or activities,

» Ensure that the information enhances the public’s understanding to a greater degree than
currently exists,

» Demanstrate that FGI possesses the expertise to explain the requested information to the
public,

s Demonstrate that FGI possesses the ability to make the requested information accessible to
the general public, and

» Demonstrate that the news media recognizes FGI as a reliable source in the relevant field.

In determining whether disclosure of requested information will contribute significantly to public
understanding, a guiding test is whether the requester will disseminate the information to a
reasonably broad audience of persons interested in the subject.0 FGI need not show how it intends
to distribute the information, because, as the court noted, “nothing in FOIA, the [agency] regulation
or our case law require[s] such pointless specificity.”!! It is sufficient for FGI to show how it
distributes information to the public generally,2

3. OBTAINING THE REQUESTED RECORDS IS OF NO COMMERCIAL INTEREST TO FGI.

Disclosure is in no way connected with any commercial interest of the requestars. FGI is a non-

% Carney v U.S. Dept. of Justice, 19 F.3d 807 {2nd Cir, 1994).
" fudicial Watch, 326 F.3d at 1314.
2.


https://generally.12
https://subject.to
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partisan organization, FGI has no commercial interest and will realize no commercial benefit from
the release of the requested records.

4.FGl1 IS A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE NEWS MEDIA,

Under FOIA, the term “representative of the news media” includes any person or entity that
"gathers information of potential interest to a segment of the public, uses its editorial skills to turn
the raw materials into a distinct work, and distributes that work to an audience.”13 In Cause of
Action v. Federal Trade Commission, the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia broke the test
for who is a media entity into five parts: “A requester must; (1) gather information of potential
interest (2) to a segment of the public; (3) use its editorial skills to turn the raw materials into a
distinct work; and (4] distribute that work (5) to an audience.”t+ 15

In interpreting this test, the court noted “the news-media waiver. .. focuses on the nature of the
requester, not its request.”!s Accordingly, where a requester “satisfies the five criteria as a general
matter, it does not matter whether any of the individual FOIA requests does s0."!7 Moreover, the
media entity waiver applies to newer organizations as well as older ones: “there is no indication
that Congress meant to make the lack of a prior publication record disqualifying when it enacted
the statutory definition in 2007."1¢

A. FGI gathers information of potential interest.

FGI's mission is to demand transparency and promote shared values and beliefs in a thriving
economy, a healthy America, a strong and equitable workforce, and a safe and clean environment.
As part of this mission, FGI engages in investigations and education initiatives around important
issues, including high energy prices, the government’'s COVID-19 response, and government
transparency. These are topics of potentially broad public interest, as evidenced by the fact that
multiple news outlets have written stories on FGI's work. You can see several FGI's media mentions
at https://functionalgovernment.org/category/media-mentions/.

B. FGI gathers information of interest to a segment of the public.

As demonstrated above, the information that FGI gathers is of interest to a segment of the public.
This includes but is not limited to the segment of the public concerned with government
transparency. The size of the segment af the public interests in any particularly information
gathering project may vary, however, as the court has noted, “[a] newspaper reporter, for example,
is a representative of the news media regardless of how much interest there is in the story for
which he or she is requesting information.”1® Moreover, as long as FGI “satisfies the five criteria as a
general matter, it does not matter whether any of the individual FOIA requests does s0.”20

15 1.5.C. § 552(a){4KA)(ii).

14799 F.3d 1108, 1120{D.C. Cir. 2015}.

15 The court further noted that “the news-media fee waiver applies only to records that ‘are naot sought for
commercial use.” Cause of Action, 700 F.3d at 1120. For the reasons set forth in section 3 abave, FGI is not
requesting these records for commercial use.

6799 F.3d 1108, 1120 (D.C. Cir. 2015} at 1121 {emphasis in the original).
g,

14 at 1124.

' Cause of Action, 799 F.3d at 1121.
W4,
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As set forth above, FGI believes that this request is of interest to a reasonably broad segment of the
public. Even if the agency disagrees, however, there can be no doubt that other issues about which
FGI gathers information, such as drivers of inflation in the United States, energy prices, government
transparency and maore, are of interest to a significant audience. Accordingly, FGI is an organization
that gathers information of interest to a segment of the population.

C. FGI uses its editorial skills to turn raw materials into distinct works.

As the D.C. Circuit Court has stated, “A substantive press release or editorial comment can be a
distinct work based on the underlying material, just as a newspaper article about the same
documents would be — and its composition can involve 'a significant degree of editorial
discretion.”?! Furthermore, "nothing in principle prevents a journalist from producing ‘distinct
work' that is based exclusively on documents obtained through FOIA."22

FGl is an entity that uses its editorial skills to turn raw materials into distinct works. It routinely
issues substantive press releases detailing its activities, posted at functionalgovernment.org. These
press releases have included substantive analysis of the information gathered by FGIl with a
significant degree of editorial discretion. FGI has also prepared detailed reports, posted on its
website, and FGI provides substantive editorial comment to other journalists, with many news clips
posted on website, as well.

Like a newspaper or other media outlet, FGI uses its editorial skills to turn raw materials into
distinct works and intends to do so for other subjects as it gathers additional infermation. Thus, FGI
meets this test.

D. FGI distributes its work to an audience.

For purposes of FOIA, “posting content to a public wehsite can qualify as a means of distributing it
— notwithstanding that readers have to affirmatively access the content, rather than have it
delivered to their doorsteps or beamed into their homes unbidden.”?3 Moreover, while “[t]here is
no doubt that the requirement that a requester distribute its work to ‘an audience’ contemplates
that the work is distributed to more than a single person ... beyond requiring that a person or
entity have readers (or listeners or viewers), the statute does not specify what size the audience
must be,"?4 Additionally, “[tlhe fact that [a media entity’s] readership is relatively small ... is
irrelevant.”2s

Assessing whether a media entity distributes its work to an audience includes consideration of
“past record, current operations, and future plans jointly."2é

In addition, the court rejected “the suggestion that a public interest advocacy organization cannot
satisfy the statute's distribution criterion because it is ‘more like a middleman for dissemination to

7% Cause of Action, 799 £.3d 1122 (quoting Nat. Sec. Archive v. U.S. Dept. of Defense, 880 F.2d 1381, 1387 (D.C. Cir.
1989)).

2,

B Cause af Action, 799 F.3d at 1123,

24 1d, at 1124 {footnote omitted),

*% 1d. at 1124 (quoting Tax Analysists v. Dept. of Justice, 965 F.2d 1092, 1095 {D.C. Cir. 1992)).
8 1d at 1124.
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the media than a representative of the media itself,” concluding “there is no indication that
Congress meant to distinguish between those who reach their ultimate audiences directly and those
who partner with others to do so, as some recognized journalistic enterprises do."??

FGI will continue to use its website to distribute original editorial content, including press releases.
FGI has email subscribers and intends to establish a greater social media presence to reach its
audience directly. In addition, FGI has durable relationships with a broad netwark of reparters,
bloggers, and media publications interested in its content and with whom FGl has partnered to
distrihute its distinct editorial commentary.

Accordingly, FGI distributes its work to an audience.
E. FGI qualifies as a representative of the news media.

Under the applicable law, a government accountability group qualifies as a media organization for
purposes of FOIA when it gathers information of potential interest and uses it to create original
content, which can be as simple as issuing a press release or comment to other media organizations,
and distributes it, which can be as simple as posting it on a website with an audience greater than
one, This is true even if an organization is new and does not have a long track record. Accordingly,
under the standard set forth in FOIA and interpreted in Cause of Action, FGI clearly qualifies asa
representative of the news media.

FGI QUALIFIES FOR A FULL FEE WAIVER,

For all the foregoing reasons, FGI qualifies for a full fee waiver. At minimum, FGI qualifies as a
representative of the news media that is exempt from search and production costs, We anticipate
that you will promptly grant our fee waiver request and begin to search and disclose the requested
records without any unnecessary delays.

Thank you for your prompt attention to this request. If you have any questions, please contact me,
Records and any related correspondence should be sent to my attention to the email address below.

Sincerely,

Chris Stanley

Director

Functional Government Initiative
6218 Georgia Avenue NW, Ste 1 - 1235
Washington, DC 20011-5125
chris@functionalgovernment.org

7 1d. at 1125 (citations omitted).
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March 31, 2023

Submitted online at https://requests.publiclink.hhs.gov/

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Freedom of Information Act Office

Hubert H. Humphrey Building.,, Room 729H
200 Independence Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20201

Re: Communications about the Reagan-Udall report on FDA’s tobacco programs

Dear Freedom of Information Act Officer:

The Functional Government Initiative (FGI) submits this request for records under the Freedom of
[Information Act (5 U.5.C. § 552, as amended) and the implementing regulations of the Department
of Health and Human Services. FGI, a non-partisan organization, engages in research, investigation,

and education to promote transparency in government,

Your prompt response pursuant to the requirements of FOIA, 5 US.C. § 522(a){6])(A). is
appreciated.

REQUESTED RECORDS

FGI requests all records from December 19, 2022, until the date the search begins pertaining to the
report from the Reagan-Udall Foundation for the Food and Drug Administration about the FDA's
tobacco pragrams, Operational Evaluation of Certain Components of FDA's Tobacco Program?, This
would include but not be flimited to communications to anyone outside the government about the
report, any analysis of the repart, responses to the report, and plans to address the report.

Custodian:
Andrea Palm, Deputy Secretary

The term “all records” in this request refers to letters, correspondence, emails including
attachments, calendars, electronic meeting invitations and replies, facsimiles, memoranda, text
messages (including messages on encrypted apps such as Signal or WhatsApp), notes from
meetings and phone calls, minutes of meetings, agendas of meetings, comments, files, presentations,
consultations, drawings, diagrams, graphs, charts, assessments, evaluations, telephone records and
logs, virtual meeting logs (such as those produced by Microsoft Teams and Zoom), papers
(published or unpublished), reports, studies, photographs and other images, databases, data, maps,
or all other responsive records in draft or final form that fall within the definition of “agency

! Found at https://reaganudall.org/sites/default/files/2022-
12/Operational%20Eva|uation%ZOof%ZOCertain%ZOComponents%ZOof%ZOFDA%275%20TobaCC0%20Program De
€.%202022.pdf
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records” subject to FOIA, This request is not meant to exclude any ather records that, although not
specifically requested, are reasonably related to the subject matter of this request.

Please provide all records in an electronic format and, to the extent practicable, in native file format
or, if not practicable, with full metadata for all fields. FOIA provides that “an agency shall provide
the record in any form or format requested by the person if the record is readily reproducible by
the agency in that form or format.”? Please provide records in either a load-ready format with an
index in .csv file or Excel spreadsheet, or in PDF format without any portfolios or embedded files
and not in a single batched pdf file,

If you should seek to withhold or redact any respansive records, we request that you do the
following:

1. Tdentify each such record with specificity, including date, author, recipient, and parties
copied,

2. Explain in full the basis for withholding responsive material,

3. Provide all segregable portions of the records for which you claim a specific exemption?,
and

4. Correlate any redactions with specific exemptions under FOIA.

If you or your office have destroyed or decide to withhold any records that could be reasonably
construed to be responsive to this request, we ask that you indicate this fact and the reasons for
doing so in your response. Agencies are prehibited from denying requests for information under
FOIA unless the agency reasonably believes release of the information will harm an interest that is
protected by the exemption.t

Should you decide to invoke a FOIA exemption or any subsection (c] exclusions, please include
sufficient information for us to assess the basis for the exemption, including any interests that
would be harmed by release. Please include a detailed ledger with the following:

1. Basic factual material about each withheld record, including the originator, date, length,
general subject matter, and location of each item, and

2. Complete justifications for each withheld records, including the specific exemptions under
which the record or portion thereof, was withheld and a full explanation of how each
exemption applies to the withheld material. Such statements will be helpful in deciding
whether to appeal an adverse determination. Your written justification may help to avoid
litigation,

If you determine that portions of the records requested are exempt from disclosure, we request
that you segregate the exempt portions and send the non-exempt portions to my email address
below within the statutory time limit.s

25 1.5.C. § 552(a)(3)(B).

1See S U.S.C. §552(b).

* FOJA Improvement Act of 20156 {Puhlic Law No. 114-185), 5 U.5.C. § 552(a}{8)(A).
55 U.5.C. § 552({b).
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FGI is willing to receive records on a rolling basis.

REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552 and the agency’s FOIA regulations, we request a waiver of fees for
searching and producing the requested records. FOIA provides for a waiver of fees when a request
is “in the public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the
operations or activities of the government and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the
requester,”®

Below are details explaining (1) how the disclosure of the requested records is in the public
interest, (2) that FGI intends distribute information to a broad audience of interested persons, and
(3) that FGI has no commercial interests,

In addition, FGl is a “person or entity that gathers information of potential interest to a segment of
the public, uses its editorial skills to turn the raw materials into a distinct work, and distributes that
work to an audience” and thus qualifies as a “representative of the news media” under 5 US.C. §
552(a)(4)(A)(ii). Below are details explaining (4) how FGI clearly meets these criteria.

1. THE REQUEST IS IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST.

Under FOIA, an agency must consider factors to determine whether a request is in the public
interest. These include the following:

A, Whether the subject of the requested records concerns “the operations or activities of the
Federal government,”

B. Whether the disclosure is “likely to contribute significantly” to an understanding of
government operations or activities, and

C. Whether the disclosure "will contribute to public understanding” of a reasonably broad
audience of persons interested in the subject.

As shown below, FGI meets each of these factors,
A. The requested records concern the operations and activities of the federal government,

The subject matter of this request, communications about a report submitted to a federal agency by
an organization created by Congress, clearly concerns the operations and activities of the federal
government, The Department of Justice Freedom of Information Act Guide acknowledges that “in
most cases records possessed by a federal agency will meet this threshold.”” The threshold is met
here not only because the records sought are by nature possessed by agency staff but also because
they relate to work as part of the federal government. Thus, FGI meets this factor.

55U.5.C. § 552(a)(4)(AXiii).
? https://www.justice.gov/sites/defauIt/files/oip/legacv/2014/07/23/fees-feewaivers‘pdf
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B. Disclosure is “likely to contribute significantly” to an understanding of government
operations or activities.

The requested information will significantly improve understanding of the operations of the HHS as
it evaluates a report from the Reagan-Udall Foundation about programs the department is
responsible for conducting.

FGI is not requesting these records merely for their intrinsic informational value, The publicis
always well served when it knows how the government conducts its activities, and the requested
records would provide insight in how important decisions were made by federal officials. Hence,
there can be no dispute that disclosure of the requested records to the public will significantly
increasing the public's understanding about the agency’s actions and decisions and whether agency
actions were conducted in an objective and legal way.

Thus, FGI meets this factor.

€, Disclosure of the requested records will contribute to the understanding of a reasonably
broad audience.

FGI has the ability and intention to convey this information to a broad audience (by means
discussed in Section 2 betow). A broad audience of thase whao follow public health, the work of the
HHS and the FDA, and the government’s tobacco programs, among other issues, would be
interested in the requested records. We are unaware of these records having been released to date.

2. FGI HAS THE ABILITY AND INTENT TO DISSEMINATE THE INFORMATION TO A REASONABLY
BROAD AUDIENCE INTERESTED IN THE SUBJECT.

FGlis a non-partisan organization that researches government cperations and informs and
educates the public on its findings. A key component in heing able in to fulfill this mission is access
to information about the activities and decisions of senior government officials. Once the
information is obtained, FGI has robust mecbhanisms in place, including its website, social media
channels, and other similar platforms, to share information and analysis. FGI also has a broad
network of reporters, bloggers, and media publications with interest in its content and with durable
relationships with the organization. FGI intends to use these far-reaching media outlets to publicize
information obtained from this request.

Through these means, FGI's dissemination of the information will:

* Ensure that the information requested contributes significantly to the public’s
understanding of the government's operations or activities,

* Ensure that the information enhances the public's understanding to a greater degree than
currently exists,

= Demonstrate that FGI possesses the expertise to explain the requested information to the
public,

* Demonstrate that FGI possesses the ability to make the requested information accessible to
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the general public, and
» Demonstrate that the news media recognizes FGI as a reliable source in the relevant field.

In determining whether disclosure of requested information will contribute significantly to public
understanding, a guiding test is whether the requester will disseminate the information to a
reasonably broad audience of persons interested in the subject.? FGI need not show how it intends
to distribute the information, because, as the court said, “nothing in FOIA, the [agency] regulation,
or our case law require[s] such pointless specificity.”® [t is sufficient for FGI to show how it
distributes information to the public generally.10

3.OBTAINING THE REQUESTED RECORDS 1S OF NO COMMERCIAL INTEREST TO FGL

Disclosure is in no way connected with any commercial interest of the requestors. FGI is a non-
partisan organization with no commercial interest, and it will realize no commercial benefit from
the release of the requested records.

4, FGLIS A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE NEWS MEDIA,

Under FOIA, the term "representative of the news media” includes any person or entity that
“gathers information of potential interest to a segment of the public, uses its editorial skills to turn
the raw materials into a distinct work, and distributes that work to an audience.”'t In Cause of
Action v. Federal Trade Commission, the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia broke the test
for who is a media entity into five parts: "A requester must: (1) gather information of potential
interest (2) to a segment of the public; (3) use its editorial skills to turn the raw materials inlo a
distinet work; and (4] distribute that work (5} to an audience.”12 13

In interpreting this test, the court noted “"the news-media waiver ... focuses on the nature of the
requester, not its request.”!* Accordingly, where a requester “satisfies the five criteria as a general
matter, it does not matter whether any of the individual FOIA requests does so.”!> Moreover, the
media entity waiver applies to newer organizations as well as older ones: “there is no indication
that Congress meant to make the lack of a prior publication record disqualifying when it enacted
the statutory definition in 2007."16

A. FGI gathers information of potential interest.

8 Carney v U.S. Dept. af Justice, 19 F.3d 807 (2nd Cir. 1994).
? Judicial Watch, 326 F.3d at 1314,
g,
5 U.S.C §552{a)(4)(al(ii).
12799 F.3d 1108, 1120 (D.C. Cir. 2015).
" The court further noted that “the news-media fee waiver applies only to records that ‘are not sought for
commercial use.” Cause of Action, 700 F.3d at 1120. For the reasons set forth in section 3 above, FGl is not
requesting these records for commercial use.
i: 799 £.3d 1108, 1120 (D.C. Cir. 2015) at 1121 (emphasis in the original).
id.
*id. at 1124,
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FGI's mission is to demand transparency and promote shared values and beliefs in a thriving
economy, a healthy America, a strong and equitable workforce, and a safe and clean environment.
As part of this mission, FGI engages in investigations and education initiatives around important
issues, including high energy prices, the government’s COVID-19 response, and government
transparency, among other issues. These are topics of potentially broad public interest, as
evidenced by the fact that multiple other news outlets have written stories on releases issued by
FGlin our short but active existence. You can see several of FGI's media mentions on our website.

B. FGI gathers information of interest to a segment of the p..lic.

As demonstrated above, the information that FGI gathers is of interest to a segment of the public.
This includes, but is not limited to, the segment of the public concerned with government
transparency. The size of the segment of the public interests in any particularly information
gathering project may vary, however, as the court has noted, “|a] newspaper reporter, for example,
is a representative of the news media regardless of how much interest there is in the story for
which he or she is requesting information,”1” Moreover, as long as FGI “satisfies the five criteria as
a general matter, it does not matter whether any of the individual FOIA requests does so."!8

As set forth above, FGI believes that this request is of interest to a reasonably broad segment of the
public. Even if the agency disagrees, however, there can be no doubt that other issues about which
FGI gathers information, such as drivers of inflation in the United States, energy prices, government
transparency and more, are of interest to a significant audience.

Accordingly, FGI is an organization that gathers information of interest to a segment of the
population.

C. FGI uses its editorial skills to turn raw materials into distinct works.

As the D.C. Circuit Court has stated, “A substantive press release or editorial comment can be a
distinct work hased on the underlying material, just as a newspaper article about the same
documents would be — and its composition can involve ‘a significant degree of editorial
discretion.”1? Furthermore, “nothing in principle prevents a journalist from producing ‘distinct
waork’ that is based exclusively on documents obtained through FOIA,"20

FGlis an entity that uses its editorial skills to turn raw materials into distinct works. It routinely
issues substantive press releases detailing its activities. These press releases have included and will
continue to include substantive analysis of the information gathered by FGI and involve a
significant degree of editorial discretion. Additionally, FGI has prepared detailed reports. FGI also
provides substantive editorial comment to other journalists.

Y7 Cause of Action, 799 F.3d at 1121.

¥y,

1% Couse of Action, 799 F.3d 1122 {quoting Nat. Sec. Archive v. U.S. Dept. of Defense, 880 F.2d 1381, 1387 {(D.C. Cir
1989)). ’ o
0 4g.
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Like a newspaper or other media outlet, FG1 uses its editorial skills to turn raw materials into
distinct works and intends to do so for other subjects as it gathers additional information. Thus, FGI
meets this test.

D. FGI distributes its work to an audience.

For purposes of FOIA, “posting content to a puhlic website can qualify as a means of distributing it
— notwithstanding that readers have to affirmatively access the content, rather than have it
delivered to their doorsteps or beamed into their homes unbidden.”?! Moreover, while “[t]here is
no doubt that the requirement that a requester distribute its work te 'an audience’ contemplates
that the work is distributed to more than a single person ... beyond requiring that a person or
entity have readers (or listeners or viewers), the statute does not specify what size the audience
must be."?z Additionally, “[t]he fact that [a media entity’s] readership is relatively small ... is
irrelevant.”23

Assessing whether a media entity distributes its work to an audience includes consideration of
“past record, current operations, and future plans jointly."2¢

In addition, the court rejected “the suggestion that a public interest advocacy organization cannot
satisfy the statute’s distribution criterion because it is ‘more like a middleman for dissemination to
the media than a representative of the media itselt,”” concluding “there is no indication that
Congress meant to distinguish between those who reach their ultimate audiences directly and those
who partner with others to do so, as some recognized journalistic enterprises do."2s

FGI will continue to use its website to distribute original editorial content, including press releases,
FGI has email subscribers and intends to establish a greater social media presence to reach its
audience directly. In addition, FGI has a broad network of reporters, bloggers, and media
publications with interest in its content and with durable relationships with the organization that
FGI can partner with to distribute its distinct editorial commentary.

Accordingly, FGI distrihutes its work to an audience.
E. FGI qualifies as a representative of the news media.

Under the applicable law, a government accountability group qualifies as a media organization for
purposes of FOIA when it gathers information of patential interest and uses it to create original
content, which can be as simple as issuing a press release or comment to other media organizations,
and distributes it, which can be as simple as posting it on a website with an audience greater than
one. This is true even when an organization does not have a long track record.

2! Cause of Action, 799 F.3d at 1123,

22 |d. at 1124 (footnote omitted).

3 1d. at 1124 (quoting Tax Analysists v. Dept. of Justice, 965 F.2d 1092, 1095 (D.C. Cir. 1992)).
Myd at 1124,

% d. at 1125 {citations omitted).
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Accordingly, under the standard set forth in FOIA, and interpreted in Cause of Action, FGI clearly
qualifies as a representative of the news media.

FGI QUALIFIES FOR A FULL FEE WAIVER,

For all the foregoing reasons, FGI qualifies for a full fee waiver. At minimum, FGI qualifies as a
representative of the news media that is exempt from search and production costs. We anticipate
that the agency will promptly grant our fee waiver request and begin to search and disclose the
requested records without any unnecessary delays.

Thank you for your prompt attention to this request. If you have any questions, please contact me.
Records and any related correspondence should be sent to my attention to the email address below.

Sincerely,

Chris Stanley

Director

Functional Government Initiative
6218 Georgia Avenue NW, Ste 1 - 1235
Washington, DC 20011-5125
chris@functionalgovernment.org
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Functional Government Initiative

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

e e e =

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendane's name und address)
Civil Process Clerk

United States Attorney's Office
555 4th Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20530

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 30 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must
serve on the plaintift an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attormey, whose name and

address arc: Paul M. Bartkowski

Bartkowski PLLC
6803 Whittier Ave. Suite 200A
McLean, Virginia 22101

If you fail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the
complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk ar Depury Clerk
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Functional Government Initiative

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

—_— o e e

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: tDetendant’s name and addresy) )
United States Attorney General

U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20530-001

A lawsuit has been tiled against vou.

Within 30 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must
serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and

address are: Paul M. Bartkowski

Bartkowski PLLC
6803 Whittier Ave. Suite 200A
McLean, Virginia 22101

If you fail to respond, judgment by detault may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the
complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clevk or Depuiy Clerk
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Functional Government Initiative

Plaintiff

v, Civil Action Nao.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Defendant

SUMDMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: tDefendant’s name and address; R
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Hubert H. Humphrey Building
200 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, D.C. 20201

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 30 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must
serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules ot
Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintift™s attorney, whose name and

address are: Paul M. Bartkowski

Bartkowski PLLC
6803 Whittier Ave. Suite 200A
McLean, Virginia 22101

[f you ftail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the reliet demianded in the
complaint. You also must tile your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Depuny Clerk
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